

TRIAL PROTOCOL

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

The ABA Study

Assets-based feeding help Before and After birth (ABA): feasibility study for improving breastfeeding initiation and continuation

version number: 2.0

version date: 04 Apr 2017

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 1 of 54

Protocol development

Protocol Amendments			
The following amendments and/or administrative changes have been made to this protocol since the implementation of the first approved version			
Date of amendment	Protocol version number	Type of amendment	Summary of amendment
04/4/2017	2.0	Substantial	Addition of Trial Steering Committee members; addition of trial office contact details; addition of methods to chase unreturned follow up questionnaires; change to randomisation procedure; correction of minor typographical errors
	of the first approv	mendments and/or administration of the first approved version Date of amendment Protocol version number	mendments and/or administrative changes have been roof the first approved version Date of amendment Protocol version number Type of amendment

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 2

PROTOCOL SIGN OFF

CI Signature Page		
This protocol has been approved by:		
Trial Name:	ABA	
Protocol Version Number:	Version: 2.0	
Protocol Version Date:	4 th April 2017	
CI Name:	Professor Kate Jolly	
Trial Role:	Chief Investigator	
Signature and date:	//	
Sponsor statement: By signing the IRAS form for this trial, University of Birmingham, acting as sponsor of this trial confirm approval of this protocol.		

Reference Numbers	
Sponsor number (For UoB sponsored trials this is the RG number)	RG_16-103
ISRCTN reference number	ISRCTN14760978

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 3

ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

Sponsor	
University of Birmingham	Research Support Group University of Birmingham Aston Webb Edgbaston
	Birmingham B15 2TT
Contact Details:	Sean Jennings s.jennings@bham.ac.uk

Chief investigator	
Kate Jolly	Professor of Public Health & Primary Care
Institute of Applied Health Research	
Public Health Building	0121 414 7552
University of Birmingham	c.b.jolly@bham.ac.uk
Birmingham B15 2TT	

Trial Steering Committee	
Professor Angela Harden	Professor of Community and family Health, University of East London
Dr Amy Brown	Associate Professor, Public Heath, Policy and Social Sciences, University of Swansea
Dr Gulnaz Iqbal	Warwick Clinical Trials Unit, University of Warwick
Mrs Rebecca Jennings	Lay representative

Trial Management Group		
Professor Christine MacArthur		Professor of Maternal and Child Epidemiology
Professor Pat Hoddinott		Professor of Primary Care
Dr Jenny Ingram		Senior Research Fellow
Heather Tricky		Research Associate and PhD Research Student
Dr Gill Thomson		Senior Research Fellow
Professor Fiona Dykes		Professor of Maternal and Infant Health
Dr Alice Sitch		Lecturer in Medical Statistics
Dr Max Feltham		Women's Health Team lead
Dr Stephan Dombrowski		Senior Lecturer
Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0 Version Date:		: 4 th April 2017 Page 4

Professor Tracy Roberts	Professor of Health Economics
Jo Kidd-Chadwick	Lay representative
Bibiana Mas	Lay representative

BCTU Quality Assurance Team	
Razia Meer-Baloch	Quality Assurance Manager
Institute of Applied Health Research	
Murray Learning Centre	0121 414 3351
University of Birmingham	r.meerbaloch@bham.ac.uk
Birmingham B15 2TT	

Trial Office Contact Details	
Dr Joanne Clarke	ABA Research Fellow
Institute of Applied Health Research	
Public Health Building	0121 415 8060
University of Birmingham	j.l.clarke@bham.ac.uk
Birmingham B15 2TT	

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 5

ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS:

Include a list of all abbreviations used in the main text

Term	Description
Polic ie s	Policies are developed to describe the approach of the UoB on areas that heavily regulated. Policies may also be developed when there is ambiguity in how regulatory requirements should be implemented in the QMS or when procedures to be captured in the QMS address areas controversial within the UoB at the time of implementation. Policies explain why the UoB has its procedures, especially when they seem to deviate from the regulatory requirements. Policies should be read in conjunction with the relevant SOP. Policies that are not part of a Quality Manual are coded up as 'POL'.
QCD	See "Quality Control Documents"
QMS	Quality Management System
Quality Control Documents (QCD)	Quality Control Documents can be instructions, forms, templates or checklists. They are developed to share best practices, promote standardisation to guarantee quality standards are maintained and reduce resources otherwise needed to develop similar documents. Unless indicated otherwise in the relevant SOP, QCDs are not mandatory and are designed to be an optional aid to UoB staff.
Quality Management System (QMS)	A Quality Management System (QMS) is a system that includes procedures and policies to describe how certain tasks should be performed and that encapsulate any standards and/or regulatory requirements that may apply to those tasks. By adhering to the Quality Management System, the user and the UoB will be assured that applicable regulations are adhered to.
SOP	See "Standard Operating Procedures"
Standard Operating Procedures (SOP)	Standard Operating Procedures are detailed written instructions to achieve uniformity in the performance of a specific function. They define tasks, allocate responsibilities, detail processes, indicate documents and templates to be used and cross-reference to other work instructions and guidance or policy documents. They are standards to which the UoB may be audited or inspected.
Adverse Event (AE)	Any untoward medical occurrence in a participant or clinical trial subject participating in the trial which does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the treatment received. Comment: An AE can therefore be any unfavourable and unintended sign (including abnormal laboratory findings), symptom or disease temporally associated with the use of a medicinal product, whether or not related to the medicinal product.
Related Event	An event which resulted from the administration of any of the research procedures.
Serious Adverse Event (SAE)	 An untoward occurrence that: Results in death Is life-threatening* Requires hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 6

	Results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity
	Consists of a congenital anomaly/ birth defect
	 Or is otherwise considered medically significant by the Investigator** Comments:
	The term severe is often used to describe the intensity (severity) of a specific event. This is not the same as serious, which is based on participants/event outcome or action criteria.
	* Life threatening in the definition of an SAE refers to an event in which the participant was at risk of death at the time of the event; it does not refer to an event that hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe.
	** Medical judgment should be exercised in deciding whether an AE is serious in other situations. Important AEs that are not immediately life threatening or do not result in death or hospitalisation but may jeopardise the subject or may require intervention to prevent one of the other outcomes listed in the definition above, should be considered serious
Unexpected and Related Event	An event which meets the definition of both an Unexpected Event and a Related Event
Unexpected Event	The type of event that is not listed in the protocol as an expected occurrence.
Source data	All information in original records and certified copies of original records of clinical findings, observations, or other activities in a clinical trial necessary for the reconstruction and evaluation of the trial
BCTU	The co-ordinating centre for the trial.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 7

TRIAL SUMMARY

Title: Assets-based feeding help Before and After birth (ABA): feasibility study for improving breastfeeding initiation and continuation

Trial Design: Feasibility randomised controlled trial.

Objectives:

Aim:

To assess the feasibility of delivering a new ABA infant feeding intervention (which applies a pro-active, assets-based, person-centred approach) continuing from before to after birth, within a feasibility randomised controlled trial.

OBJECTIVES:

1. To adapt existing peer support services to provide a new ABA infant feeding intervention, underpinned by theory and evidence, with service user and provider input.

2. To undertake a feasibility randomised controlled trial (RCT) of a new ABA infant feeding team role compared with usual care (control group) for women living in areas of low breastfeeding prevalence.

3. To determine levels of uptake and engagement with the ABA infant feeding intervention; to describe socio-economic / demographic profiles to ascertain reach and explore health inequalities.

4. To describe care in relation to feeding received by the reactive 'usual care group'.

5. To assess fidelity of intervention delivery, any contamination and explore feedback from the ABA infant feeding team to improve fidelity if required.

6. To assess whether women are willing to be recruited and randomised; whether the expected recruitment rate for a subsequent full scale effectiveness RCT is feasible and to identify successful recruitment strategies.

7. To explore mothers' and ABA infant feeding team members' perceptions of the intervention, trial participation and processes.

8. To explore the acceptability and fidelity of the intervention when delivered by paid and volunteer ABA infant feeding team members (provided that local services are still offering paid peer support).

9. To assess acceptability and integration of the intervention to other providers of maternity, postnatal and social care.

10. To explore the relative value of the individual feeding support versus the community integration elements to inform the design of a future trial.

11. To provide estimates of the variability in the primary outcome to enable sample size calculation for a definitive trial.

12. To measure the features of the ABA infant feeding team provision and service utilisation which would underpin the cost-effectiveness of the intervention and determine the feasibility of data collection.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 8

13. To test the components of the proposed RCT to determine the feasibility of the protocol.

Participant Population and Sample Size: 100 women pregnant with their first baby Outcome Measures:

(i) Feasibility outcomes: Ability to deliver intervention, with recommended intensity and duration to disadvantaged women; acceptability to women, ABA feeding team members and professionals; recruitment rates, willingness to be randomised, follow-up rates at 3 days, 8 weeks and 6 months and level of outcome completion.

(ii) Outcome measures to inform a full trial: Any breastfeeding at 8 weeks; breastfeeding initiation; any and exclusive breastfeeding and maternal wellbeing at 8 weeks and 6 months. Quality of life measures and costs to women and service to inform future economic study.

Inclusion Criteria: women pregnant with their first baby, regardless of feeding intention residing in the study localities

Exclusion criteria: women who have had a previous live birth.

Treatment Allocation:

(i) Usual care

(ii) ABA intervention – Infant feeding team applying a proactive, assets-based, womancentred, non-judgemental approach, delivered antenatally and postnatally tailored through face-to face contacts, telephone and SMS texts.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 9

Trial Schema

This should include a diagrammatic representation e.g. summarising screening through to follow up.



Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 10

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Background and Rational	le	
1.1.	Background		
1.2.	Trial Rationale		
1.2.1	. Justification for design.		
2.	Aims, Objectives and Out	tcome Measures	
2.1.	Aims and Objectives		17
3.	Trial Design and Setting.		
3.1.	Trial Design		
3.2.	Trial Setting		
3.3.	Identification of participar	nts	
4.	Eligibility		
4.1	Inclusion Criteria		
4.2	Exclusion Criteria		
5.	Cons ent		
6.	Enrolment and Randomis	ation	
6.1.	Enrolment		
6.2.	Randomisation		
6.3.	Blinding		
7.	Trial Treatment / interven	tion	
7.1.	Treatment and Dosing So	chedule	
8.	Trial procedures and ass	essments	
8.1.	Summary of assessment	S	
8.2.	Study Procedures		
8.3.	Schedule of Assessment	S	
8.4.	Participant Withdrawal		
9.	Adverse Event Reporting		
9.1.	Reporting Requirements		
9.2.	Adverse Events (AE)		
9.3.	Serious Adverse Advents	(SAE)	
9.4.	Reporting period		
9.5.	Reporting Procedure – A	t Site	
	ame: ABA Study		
Protoc	ol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 11

9.6.	Reporting Procedure – BCTU)
9.7.	Reporting to the Competent Authority and main Research Ethics Committee	1
9.7.3.	Unexpected and Related Serious Adverse Events	1
9.7.5.	Other safety issues identified during the course of the trial	1
9.8.	Investigators	1
9.9.	Data Monitoring Committee	1
10.	Data Handling and Record Keeping	2
10.1.	Source Data	2
10.2.	Study form and questionnaire Completion	2
10.3.	Qulaity of Life Questionnaires (QOLs)	3
10.4.	Data Management	1
10.5.	Archiving	1
11.	Quality control and quality assurance	5
11.1.	Site Set-up and Initiation	5
11.2.	Monitoring	5
11.3.	Audit and Inspection	5
11.4.	Notification of Serious Breaches	5
12.	End of Trial Definition	3
13.	Statistical Considerations	7
13.1.	Analysis of Outcome Measures	7
14.	Trial Organisational Structure	9
14.1.	Sponsor	9
14.2.	Coordinating Centre	9
14.3.	Trial Management Group	9
14.4.	Trial Steering Committee	9
14.5.	Data Monitoring Committee	9
14.6.	Finance	9
15.	Ethical Considerations	9
16.	Confidentiality and Data Protection 40)
17.	Insurance and Indemnity 40)
18.	Publication Policy)
19.	Reference List	1
20.	APPENDICES	5

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 12

1. BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE

1.1 Background

Breastfeeding duration in the UK is amongst the lowest worldwide, with routinely collected data and five yearly infant feeding surveys^{17,18} showing relatively small improvement over the past two decades, particularly for exclusive breastfeeding rates. There are considerable health inequalities, despite government initiatives, with breastfeeding initiation and duration rates lowest in teenagers, women living in socio-economically disadvantaged circumstances, women with lower educational levels and white women.

The World Health Organisation¹⁹, endorsed by UK Governments²⁰, recommends exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months to optimise infant and maternal health, yet fewer than 1% of infants in the UK receive this¹⁷. The steepest decline in breastfeeding occurs soon after birth: 81% initiate breastfeeding (defined as the baby being put to the breast or receiving breast milk on at least one occasion) but only 69% are breastfeeding are even lower: 46% at 2 weeks, 55% at 6 weeks and 34% at 6 months. Rates of exclusive breastfeeding are even lower: 46% at 1 week and 23% at 6 weeks¹⁷. Mothers express dissatisfaction with breastfeeding care^{21,22}, and 30% report feeding problems in the early weeks¹⁷. Women who report that they did not receive support for breastfeeding difficulties in hospital, or at home, were more likely to discontinue breastfeeding at this stage¹⁷.

1.2 Trial Rationale

1.2.1 Effectiveness of peer support for participant population

Breastfeeding peer support has been widely advocated in the UK as a means of increasing breastfeeding initiation and continuation rates in women from disadvantaged communities^{23,24}. A systematic review of breastfeeding initiation undertaken by team members²⁵ reported a significant increase in breastfeeding initiation in three trials that targeted the support at pregnant women who had decided to breastfeed (relative risk for not initiating breastfeeding was 0.64; 95% CI 0.41, 0.99), but no difference in the three trials that offered universal peer support to all pregnant women (relative risk for not initiating breastfeeding 0.96; 95% CI 0.76, 1.22). Heterogeneity in the meta-analysis of targeted breastfeeding peer support was high with considerable differences in the intensity of the interventions and settings where the peer support was offered²⁵.

A systematic review of breastfeeding continuation by the research team²⁶ reported significant effects of peer support (all countries) on any and exclusive breastfeeding rates at last study follow-up (RR of not breastfeeding at last follow-up 0.85 (95%CI 0.77, 0.94) and 0.82 (95%CI 0.76, 0.88) respectively). Heterogeneity was high and was explored by subgroup analyses and meta-regression. Peer support interventions had a significantly greater effect on any and exclusive breastfeeding in low or middle income countries compared to high income countries. However, in high income countries peer support reduced the risk of not breastfeeding by 7% (0.93, 95%CI 0.87, 1.00). The risk of non-exclusive breastfeeding decreased significantly by 10% (0.90, 95%CI 0.85, 0.97). No significant effect on any or exclusive breastfeeding was observed in the three UK based studies. Peer support had a greater effect on any breastfeeding rates when given at higher intensity (five or more planned contacts) (p=0.02).

A 2012 Cochrane review of support for breastfeeding mothers found that additional professional or lay support can increase both the duration and the exclusivity of breastfeeding²⁷. The 2012 review explored the effectiveness of a range of characteristics of the support and populations supported²⁷. Nine trials of lay support compared to usual care reported a risk ratio (RR) of stopping breastfeeding before last study follow-up of 0.85 (95% CI 0.77 to 0.93), but with considerable heterogeneity (I² 57%). However, the generalizability is uncertain as nine UK trials providing additional support since 2000 have not significantly improved breastfeeding outcomes²⁸.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 13

Similar results to those for peer support²⁶ were reported by Renfrew et al²⁷ in relation to frequency of planned contact. Interventions with four to eight contacts had a larger effect size than combined interventions with less than four planned contacts in trials with a usual care control group.

In the Renfrew et al 2012 review²⁷, five trials offered peer support that required the women to make the contact; none of these increased breastfeeding rates, suggesting that to be effective, peer support should be proactively offered. In Canada peer supporters with 2.5 hours training proactively telephoned women (n=256) using an unstructured format²⁹; relative risk for any breastfeeding at 4 weeks was 1.10 (95% CI 1.01 to 2.72). Preliminary research suggests that proactive early telephone support might suit a UK context. In a pilot trial (69 women) intensive early proactive telephone support for women who initiated breastfeeding delivered by a postnatal ward feeding team with personal breastfeeding experience increased any breastfeeding by 22% (risk ratio 1.49, 95% CI 0.92-2.40) at 6-8 weeks compared to the opportunity to access reactive telephone support from the team³⁰.

A recent UK study of barriers to effective lay feeding help recommended that to gain wider acceptability interventions should be mother-centred (rather than breastfeeding centred), both enabling breastfeeding and also giving help with formula milk; that there should be a greater focus on the early weeks after the birth as a difficult time when breastfeeding is being established and during which mothers frequently stop feeding before they planned; and that support should be offered proactively to improve take-up³¹. This supports a qualitative meta-synthesis of women's breastfeeding experiences which recommends person-centred approaches⁶ and qualitative studies of women's experiences of infant feeding support which found that structured approaches to support-giving are unpopular²² but flexible support is acceptable³². How breastfeeding interventions are delivered and the intervention-context fit are important determinants of outcomes³. Early support may be an important feature of effective breastfeeding support^{33,34}.

1.2.2. Existing provision of breastfeeding support in the UK

Breastfeeding support in hospitals is delivered by midwives with breastfeeding counsellors and hospital peer supporters also available in some cases. However, length of stay following delivery has reduced considerably in recent years and many women, including first time mothers, go home 6 hours after giving birth. This gives insufficient time to establish breastfeeding. At the same time postnatal home visits by community midwives have also reduced in frequency. Care transfers from midwives to health visitors between 10 and 30 days postnatally. Much community breastfeeding support is provided by lay workers in children's centres and peer supporters. Breastfeeding peer support is provided by a range of organisations including voluntary organisations, local authorities and the NHS. Peers may be paid or voluntary, and training and supervision are also provided by a range of different providers. Continuity of targeted peer support with an antenatal visit and postnatal support from the same local supporter is associated with psycho-social benefits for mothers, health professionals and peer supporters³².

Current characteristics of peer support provided for pregnant and breastfeeding mothers across the UK are largely unknown, although this was systematically collected for Scotland up to 2002². Anecdotally, provision across the UK is very variable and there have been considerable changes since the move of public health into local authorities in England. In the 2010 Infant Feeding Survey¹⁶, 69% of women reported being given the details of a voluntary organisation or community group which helps new mothers and 64% were aware of the National Breastfeeding Helpline. A report of breastfeeding support in London³⁵ found that the proportion of newly delivered mothers receiving breastfeeding support from a peer supporter varied from less than 5% to 52% of all births in London boroughs.

Research into the role of UK fathers in supporting breastfeeding reported that fathers wanted to be able to support their partner, but they often were excluded from antenatal breastfeeding education or were considered unimportant in post-natal support³⁶. Men wanted more information about how they could practically support their partner.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 14

1.2.3 Information needs and risks in mothers who feed their babies formula milk

Our proposal differs from previous UK studies which have focused solely on breastfeeding. The evidence shows that for interventions to be acceptable it is important to address issues related to mixed feeding and formula feeding^{8,31}. The 2010 Infant Feeding Survey showed that 54% of babies had received formula milk by 1 week of age and the vast majority of babies receive at least some formula milk in the first year of life¹⁷. Furthermore, the survey also highlighted that half of mothers who prepared powdered infant formula did not follow all three key recommendations, which are intended to reduce the risk of infection and over concentration of feeds. Other authors have also highlighted a high frequency of errors in formula feed preparation^{37,38}. While it may seem paradoxical to support women with formula feeding to achieve improved breastfeeding rates, the evidence indicates that an intervention to increase breastfeeding rates which fails to address mothers' needs in relation to formula feeding - particularly in a culture where mixed feeding is common - risks alienating potential beneficiaries, limiting intervention reach and retention, and a decrease the likelihood of achieving breastfeeding related outcomes.

1.2.4 Risks and benefits

The largest potential public health gain is from improving health outcomes for disadvantaged infants³⁹.

The potential benefits of this study are increased initiation and duration of breastfeeding. Breastfeeding is associated with health benefits for both the infant and mother^{14, 40-46}. In the infant and child any breastfeeding is associated with reduced risk of gastrointestinal infection by 63%, sudden infant death syndrome by 36%¹⁴; otitis media by 33%⁴², asthma aged 5-18 years by 12%⁴⁵, future overweight or obesity by 26%⁴³, type II diabetes by 35% and malocclusions by 64%⁴⁶. Exclusive breastfeeding for greater than 4 months reduces the risk of hospital admission for lower respiratory tract infections in the first year by 72% and for 3-4 months reduces the risk of allergic disease (asthma, allergic dermatitis and eczema) by 23% in children at low risk of the condition and by 43% in children with a family history¹⁴. Exclusive breastfeeding for greater than 3 months is associated with a reduced risk of type I diabetes of 30%¹⁴. Meta-analyses report that breast milk is associated with a 58% reduced risk of necrotizing enterocolitis in pre-term infants, and is associated with reduced mortality and improved neurodevelopmental and educational outcomes⁴⁷. For mothers, there is a reduced risk of breast (26%) and ovarian (37%) cancers for breastfeeding of more than 12 months⁴⁴.

Improving the methods of making-up formula feeds will incur additional infant health benefits from reduced gastrointestinal infections³⁸. By focussing on the mothers' needs there should be less guilt associated with feeding decisions⁵.

The risks to the participants are low and outweighed by the potential benefits. Risks to the ABA feeding team are those of lone working and undertaking home visits. The ABA feeding teams will follow the policies of their organisation to ensure that safety issues are addressed.

1.2.5 Assets-based approaches in public health

An assets-based approach is about focusing on the positive capability of individuals and communities, rather than solely on their needs, deficits and problems. This is linked to the theory of salutogenesis (health)^{48,49}, which highlights the factors that create and support human health, rather than those that cause disease⁵⁰. It also has parallels with economic theories of capability and well-being, from a broad physical, psychological, social and community perspective⁵¹.

Assets-based approaches are essentially about recognising and making the most of people's strengths, to 'redress the balance between meeting needs and nurturing the strengths and resources of people and communities'⁵², with a corresponding shift in focus from the determinants of illness to the determinants of health and wellbeing. Although assets can include material resources⁵³⁻⁵⁴, in public health, more typically, the primary focus is on valuing individual and collective psycho-social attributes. These include self-esteem, confidence, optimism, knowledge and skills, as well as features of social capital such as social networks and reciprocity⁵⁵⁻⁵⁸.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 15

Longitudinal qualitative research with families living in disadvantaged areas suggests that the outcome that matters, and drives decisions to stop breastfeeding, is family wellbeing rather than future theoretical health benefits⁸. In the context of breastfeeding and wellbeing, assets are likely to include intrinsic personal resources, particularly self-efficacy in relation to infant feeding, motivation and drive to maintain feeding, willingness to ask for and accept help; and extrinsic resources such as availability of social support from partner⁵⁹⁻⁶⁰, family and friends; and wider social networks of other mothers who have breastfed their babies, other new mothers and community assets such as breastfeeding groups or baby cafes, children's centres and mother and baby groups. Local peers are also community assets for breastfeeding. In Hopkins and Rippon's theory of change approach for asset-based working⁵⁸ the focus is on recognising and mobilising assets.

1.2.6 Rationale for current study

The commissioned call asks for studies to determine the effectiveness of community-based interventions that promote uptake and maintenance of breastfeeding. Our intervention is built on systematic review evidence^{6,25-27}, behaviour change theory⁶¹ and extensive qualitative research^{6-8,32}.

Our intervention will take an assets-based approach which draws on the community, social network, family and personal assets of each woman. This enables the extent of support to be tailored to a woman's assets for breastfeeding.

We are also taking a new ABA infant feeding team approach which is woman-centred, aims to establish a strong supportive relationship with continuity of care from pregnancy until after birth, respects a woman's choices, is non-judgemental and discusses both breastfeeding and formula feeding issues should a mother wish to. This is because trials of breastfeeding support in the UK since 2000 have had unexpected null results contrary to the systematic review evidence²⁸. One hypothesis is that the women who engage with breastfeeding centred intervention research are mostly the women who are highly motivated to persevere to breastfeed. In taking this new broader "feeding" approach we will be compliant with UNICEF guidance, but at the same time will not alienate women who are considering mixed or formula feeding by using the term 'breastfeeding' in feeding promotional material^{4,5,8}.

Support delivered by peers is one behavioural change technique thought to be effective in increasing breastfeeding initiation and continuation^{26,27,62}. It is recommended by NICE⁹ and many programmes are in existence in the NHS. However, four consecutive UK trials of breastfeeding peer support interventions⁶³⁻⁶⁷ have not reported significant improvements in breastfeeding rates. As discussed above, explanations are likely to include the low intensity of contacts and contact made only several days after a mother has given birth, when many difficulties with breastfeeding will have already occurred.

This assets-based feeding intervention is a new approach to peer support that seeks to overcome some of the pitfalls identified through previous studies, whilst building in methods to enable participants to identify and activate assets that exist within their family and friendship networks and in the wider community. This approach is new, and therefore we believe that a full trial would be premature. We propose a feasibility study of an intervention incorporating a model of peer delivered support taking an assets-based approach integrated with professional and community services. We propose to take a broad infant feeding team approach to encourage wide participation through non-judgemental "feeding" approaches^{4,5,7,8} since we can only affect breastfeeding initiation rates by not alienating women who are considering mixed or formula feeding^{4,5,7,8}. In addition we may be able to reduce harms from poor formula feeding practice⁶⁸.

In the feasibility study we will be able to determine feasibility of delivering the ABA infant feeding intervention as planned, its acceptability to women and health service providers, as well as determining the feasibility of a future trial. The randomisation will enable us to measure contamination in the control group, as well as to determine the level of breastfeeding support received by women as part of usual care. This will provide data to power a future trial. By undertaking the feasibility study in

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 16

areas of low breastfeeding prevalence, we will be able to ensure that the findings are relevant to population groups most in need of support for breastfeeding.

2. AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOME MEASURES

2.1 Aims and Objectives

Aim:

To assess the feasibility of delivering a new ABA infant feeding intervention (which applies a proactive, assets-based, person-centred approach) continuing from before to after birth, within a feasibility randomised controlled trial.

Objectives:

1. To adapt existing peer support services to provide a new ABA infant feeding intervention, underpinned by theory and evidence, with service user and provider input.

2. To undertake a feasibility randomised controlled trial (RCT) of a new ABA infant feeding role compared with usual care (control group) for women living in areas of low breastfeeding prevalence.

3. To determine levels of uptake and engagement with the ABA infant feeding intervention; to describe socio-economic / demographic profiles to ascertain reach and explore health inequalities.

4. To describe care in relation to feeding received by the reactive 'usual care group'.

5. To assess fidelity of intervention delivery, any contamination and explore feedback from ABA infant feeding team to improve fidelity if required.

6. To assess whether women are willing to be recruited and randomised; whether the expected recruitment rate for a subsequent full scale effectiveness RCT is feasible and to identify successful recruitment strategies.

7. To explore mothers' and ABA feeding team members' perceptions of the intervention, trial participation and processes.

8. To explore the acceptability and fidelity of the intervention when delivered by paid and volunteer infant feeding teams (provided that local services are still offering paid peer support).

9. To assess acceptability and integration of the intervention to other providers of maternity, postnatal and social care.

10. To explore the relative value of the individual feeding support versus the community integration elements to inform the design of a future trial.

11. To provide estimates of the variability in the primary outcome to enable sample size calculation for a definitive trial.

12. To measure the features of the ABA infant feeding team provision and service utilisation which would underpin the cost-effectiveness of the intervention and determine the feasibility of data collection.

13. To test the components of the proposed RCT to determine the feasibility of the protocol.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 17

3. TRIAL DESIGN AND SETTING

3.1 Trial Design

The design is informed by the MRC Complex interventions and RE-AIM frameworks⁶⁹⁻⁷⁰.

The study has two work packages: WP1 will undertake the assessment of local assets and coproduction of the intervention; WP2 is a feasibility RCT with a mixed methods process evaluation.

Participants will be identified through the anomaly ultrasound screening clinics held at 18-20 weeks gestation and at routine antenatal clinics at or after this gestation.

3.2 Outcome Measures

FEASIBILITY OUTCOMES:

Reach of recruitment of mothers to reflect wide socio-demographic profile;

Ability to recruit, train and engage current peer supporters to the new ABA infant feeding team role;

Ability to deliver planned number of contacts at a time and location convenient for participants;

Acceptability to participants;

Fidelity of delivery, as well as whether good practice was achieved in terms of woman-centred care;

Unintended consequences of the intervention;

The feasibility of a future definitive trial. This will be assessed by recruitment rates, participants' willingness to be randomised, follow-up rates at 3 days, 8 weeks and 6 months and level of completion of assessments by text¹⁶ and email.

Potential cases of intervention contamination in the control group: at 8 weeks

The feasibility RCT will assess whether the whole trial can be run as planned and will include outcome measures that a definitive trial would collect. Particular attention will be paid to levels of missing data and contamination.

OUTCOMES OF A DEFINITIVE TRIAL - MEASURES INCLUDED IN FEASIBILITY TRIAL

Primary outcome: Any breastfeeding at 8 weeks.

Secondary outcomes:

breastfeeding initiation (collected at 2-3 days)

exclusive breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks

any/exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months

duration of any and exclusive breastfeeding (if ceased breastfeeding)

maternal wellbeing (Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale)82

OUTCOMES RELEVANT TO FUTURE ECONOMIC EVALUATION:

Self-reported use of health care resources and feeding support services (8 week questionnaire).

Overall feeding support activity during the intervention period obtained from logs (ABA feeding team and local peer supporters). At 8 weeks and 6 months

Use of childcare (questionnaire at 8 weeks and 6 months).

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 18

Qualitative interviews with women will explore whether there are costs to family or social networks in supporting a mother in her breastfeeding as these would need to be considered by a societal perspective in a future economic evaluation.

3.3 Trial Setting

To reduce start-up time, training costs and integration problems, the trial will take place in two geographical areas (Birmingham and South Gloucestershire) with peer support programmes in place, but where the service is offered on a more reactive basis, i.e. self-referral or midwife referral. Some of the existing peer supporters will be trained to deliver the proactive assets-based intervention package. If there are any problems with these locations, then additional sites have expressed an interest - Betsi Cadwaladr in Wales and Dudley.

The intervention will be delivered in the community and in women's homes.

3.4 Identification of participants

All women and teenagers (aged 16 or more) pregnant with their first child, regardless of feeding intention, residing in study localities are eligible. We aim to recruit a total of 100 women from two localities (50 in each site).

The method for approaching women has been selected to reduce inequalities in access and uptake and ensure a broad reach. Women will be sent information about the study or handed a brief Participant Information Leaflet (PIL) prior to their scan and will be approached at the 20 week scan by a researcher who will take informed consent from women willing to take part. Women will be asked to provide their contact details to the ABA feeding team. Over 98% of pregnant women attend their anomaly scan⁷¹. Areas of high need can be identified by postcode or general practice. This will ensure that we do not only recruit women who plan to breastfeed, which has been a criticism of several trials of antenatal peer support^{33-34,66}. If feeding support is only offered to women who plan to breastfeed, then it is not possible to influence breastfeeding initiation rates substantially.

Given that this is a feasibility study, we will implement alternative recruitment approaches if we are unable to recruit sufficient women at the ultrasound scan. We will ask community midwives to give out a brief information leaflet and seek consent for a researcher to contact a mother by telephone to discuss the study. This agreement will be documented by the midwife in the hand-held maternity record. A researcher will also approach women at routine antenatal appointments to invite them to take part in the study (this process is described in detail on page 21). This could take place up to 32 weeks gestation.

At recruitment we plan to inform women that we wish to compare two different ways of supporting new mothers in feeding their new baby. One option will be that women receive information from their community midwife and antenatal classes before birth and from their midwife and other community services after birth. The alternative will involve a new ABA infant feeding team who will meet the mother before she gives birth and after the baby is born and will contact the mother regularly by telephone and text to answer feeding queries and offer advice and support. Mothers offered the ABA infant feeding intervention will also have usual support from their community midwife and antenatal classes before birth and from their midwife and other community midwife and antenatal classes before birth and from their midwife and other community midwife and antenatal classes before birth and from their midwife and other community midwife antenatal classes before birth.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 19

4. ELIGIBILITY

4.1 Inclusion Criteria

All women and teenagers (aged 16 years or more) pregnant with their first child, regardless of feeding intention, residing in study localities. Women who have had a previous pregnancy that did not result in a live birth will be included.

4.2 Exclusion Criteria

Women who have had a previous live birth.

5. CONSENT

It will be the responsibility of the Investigator to obtain written informed consent for each participant prior to performing any trial related procedure. This responsibility will be delegated to the study research fellows or research midwives after appropriate training and captured on the Site Signature and Delegation Log.

A Participant Information Leaflet (PIL) for the mothers will be provided to facilitate this process. Three different methods of delivery of a brief study summary sheet will be used: it may be sent with the booking pack, posted with the 20 week scan invitation or handed directly to women by their community midwife. The method used may vary by site. Investigators or delegate(s) will ensure that they adequately explain the aim, trial intervention, anticipated benefits and potential hazards of taking part in the trial to the participant. They will also stress that participation is voluntary and that the participant is free to refuse to take part and may withdraw from the trial at any time. The participant will have been given the opportunity to read the PIL and to discuss their participation with others outside of the site research team. The participant will be given the opportunity to ask questions. If the participant expresses an interest in participating in the trial they will be asked to sign and date the latest version of the Informed Consent Form (ICF).

The Investigator or delegate(s) will then sign and date the form. A copy of the ICF will be given to the participant, a copy will be filed in the maternity notes, and the original placed in the Investigator Site File (ISF). Once the participant is entered into the trial, the participant's trial number will be entered on the Informed Consent Form maintained in the ISF. In addition, if the participant has given explicit consent a copy of the signed Informed Consent Form will be sent to the BCTU trials team for review.

Details of the informed consent discussions will be recorded in the participant's hand-held maternity notes. This will include date of discussion, the name of the trial, summary of discussion, version number of the PIL given to participant and version number of ICF signed and date consent received.

Electronic copies of the PIL and ICF will be available from the Trials Office and will be printed or photocopied onto the headed paper of the local institution. Details of all participants approached about the trial will be recorded on the Participant Screening/Enrolment Log.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 20

6. ENROLMENT AND RANDOMISATION

6.1 Enrolment

Two methods of enrolment will be employed. The primary method will be for the study summary sheet to be sent with the invitation to the 18-20 week routine ultrasound scan. Should an additional mechanism be required, we will ask community midwives to hand the study summary sheet to women at their antenatal clinics. A research midwife or study researcher will walk around the waiting room and hand out copies of the participant information leaflet, or do this as women check into the clinic. She will tell women that she is available to discuss the study if they are interested in taking part or have any questions about the study. The research midwife / researcher will not at any point coerce a woman into taking part. Recruitment will take place in the clinic, if possible, or an appointment be made to visit the women at her home, or other convenient location to undertake recruitment. Women will have an opportunity to ask questions and informed consent taken. They will be asked to complete a questionnaire.

6.2 Randomisation

Randomisation will be undertaken differently at the two recruitment sites.

In Birmingham, randomisation will be undertaken by a member of the study research team using a telephone randomisation system. The randomisation list will be developed by the trial statistician, it will be minimised by site and age group (<25 / 25+ years) and held in a secure database that is unavailable to those who enrol participants or assign interventions. The study research fellow will inform the mother of her allocation at the clinic visit, or if not available, by letter.

At the Bristol site, an Access database will be used to randomise blocks of women from each area within the Bristol site. Each group of women will be randomised at the same time and the allocation communicated to the recruiter. If an odd number of cases are recruited the allocation will be biased towards the intervention. This change to the randomisation procedures is needed to ensure that the numbers of women allocated to receive the intervention matches the number of infant feeding helpers available to deliver the intervention. The randomisation will be undertaken by a researcher who is not undertaking the recruitment.

6.3 Blinding

Trial participants and the research fellows will not be blinded to group allocation, nor will care providers. Outcome assessment is by text and postal questionnaire. The data analysts and statistician will be blinded.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 21

7. TRIAL TREATMENT / INTERVENTION

7.1 Intervention Schedule

The proposed model is of proactive support, underpinned by an assets-based approach (which has not been tested previously for infant feeding). The intervention will provide person-centred care⁶ and best evidence in relation to settings, frequency, duration and manner of providing support from the ABA infant feeding team. A logic model of the intervention is attached. It will commence antenatally (28 weeks, or earlier in the event of a very preterm birth, and continue until 5 months after birth).

Prior to the start of the study national information, helplines, social media resources and local feeding health and community 'assets' such as antenatal and postnatal groups and Baby Cafés will be mapped as a choice menu in a password protected part of the study website and in a leaflet. In addition, personal assets, in terms of family, friends and social networks will be identified. Women will be encouraged to draw on these assets to enhance their capability for breastfeeding to increase initiation and sustain breastfeeding.

Behaviour change techniques

To inform the intervention, we used information from systematic reviews, surveys, qualitative studies (described above) and with decisions informed by our PPI group to identify the barriers to breastfeeding initiation and continuation. We then used the framework set out in the behaviour change wheel, in which behaviour is analysed in its context in terms of the capability, opportunity, and motivation (COM-B) in conjunction with the theoretical domains framework to identify a range of behaviour change functions and techniques from the Behaviour Change Taxonomy^{72,73}. We then assessed potential techniques using the APEASE criteria (Affordability, Practicality, Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness, Acceptability, Side-effects/Safety, Equity⁷³. We identified intervention components which were simple, cheap, practical and acceptable. In a review of multicomponent incentive interventions to support breastfeeding (Co-applicants PH, GT, FD) mapped behaviour change techniques and found that social support dominated⁷⁴. Social support is a key concept underpinning peer support¹³.

Finally techniques were chosen which included (but not limited to) "problem solving", "goal setting", "review of outcome goal(s)", feedback on outcome(s) of behaviour", "social support (unspecified, practical, emotional)", "instruction on how to perform the behaviour", "information about health consequences", "demonstration of the behaviour", "rehearsal (mental or actual) of behaviour", "restructuring the social environment", "identification of self as role model" and "verbal persuasion about capability". Detail about the underpinning behavioural change techniques for breastfeeding which will be used if the woman expresses an interest are appended (table 1).

The intervention will commence antenatally and will aim for a strong rapport and continuity of care. Antenatal peer support in developed countries has only been shown to be effective in RCTs where it has been more intensive (greater than 2 contacts)²⁵. An ABA feeding team member will telephone the women at about 28 weeks and offer a face-to-face discussion at home or location of their choice (e.g. Children's Centre) to discuss infant feeding and find out about their assets for breastfeeding. This will use activities which engage women through asking them about their feeding stories (narrative), include visual materials and which open up general feeding discussions. This will commence with a narrative approach to producing a family tree diagram of infant feeding experiences, widening to the natural social network⁷⁵ to enable women to reflect on future feeding relationships⁷⁶. This will allow breastfeeding to be introduced in a narrative way that is womancentred rather than promotional. The discussion content might also use ladder diagrams if a woman expresses an interest in trying to breastfeed and introduces the idea of goal setting as an effective behaviour change technique⁷². This helps women to talk through the barriers and facilitators that she expects to experience and is derived from a co-PPI produced 'ladder' logic model⁷⁴. Partners and family members will be encouraged to be present so their support role can be emphasised and

Trial Name: ABA Study			
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 22	

encouraged. The ABA feeding team member might also suggest watching a video clip together and then discussing it. The choice of location will depend in part on local policies for home visiting by the ABA feeding team.

Behaviour change item	COM-B component	Behaviour change techniques	Mode of delivery	Interventi function
Discuss benefits of breastfeeding	Motivation	Information about health consequences (individual)Goal setting (outcome)	Face-to- face	Education
Video-clip about breastfeeding	Motivation	Information about health consequences (general)	Internet link from phone	Education Persuasio Enableme
		Mental rehearsal of behaviour		
		Instruction on how to perform the behaviour		
Breastfeeding support groups/social groups	Social opportunity	Social support Rehearsal	Face-to- face	Education Persuasio
3.0420	Capability Motivation	(mental or actual) of behaviour	Social media	Enableme
		Verbal persuasion about capability		
		Demonstration of behaviour		
		Instruction on how to perform the behaviour		
		Restructuring the social environment		
Written and web-site materials about	Motivation	Information about health	Leaflet Study web-site	Education Persuasio
feeding		consequences Instruction on how to perform		Enableme
Identification of social	Capability	the behaviour Social support	Face-to-	Enableme
	Capability			
Trial Name: ABA Study Protocol version no: 2.0	Varcian	Date: 4 th April 2017		Dog
	version	Date. 4 April 2017		Page

Table 1 Intervention components: rationale for inclusion

network, social comparison, other facilitators and barriers to breastfeeding/support to overcome them	Social opportunity	Problem solving	face	
Further telephone	Capability	Social support	Telephone	Enablement
contact	Motivation	Feedback on		Persuasion
		outcome(s) of behaviour		Education
		Verbal persuasion about capability		
		Problem solving		
		Review outcome goal(s)		
		ldentification of self as role model		

Involvement of partners is supported by a systematic review of four trials and quasi-experimental studies that involved male partners in education and support for breastfeeding⁷⁷. Three of the four studies reported an increase in breastfeeding initiation and three reported an increase in exclusive breastfeeding. A more recent RCT of a low intensity educational intervention for fathers in Australia also reported increases in breastfeeding⁷⁸. Qualitative research suggests that women prefer to choose whether a partner, relative or friend will help them and that this person can vary over time and according to any problems encountered⁷⁶. The ABA feeding team will therefore adopt a womancentred approach to involving others in the study and as assets for breastfeeding.

Further follow-up will be by monthly texts during pregnancy. The key aim of the texts is to establish continuity of care and a strong rapport between woman and ABA feeding team so that engagement immediately after birth is early and effective. A secondary aim is to provide woman-centred information drawing on a library of texts e.g. "Tip of the day" written by mothers for mothers. The ABA feeding helpers will then choose which texts they use tailored to each woman flexibly over time. Links will be available to the study website which will have video clips on breastfeeding a baby and information about sources of local support for feeding and local social activities for new parents. Information on feeding will be compliant with the WHO code¹¹ and will draw on independent (non-commercial) sources, including information provided by NCT⁷⁹ and First Steps Nutrition Trust¹².

The postnatal element is based on women's views that help in the early days is crucial^{8,32}, the need for early postnatal contact^{33,34} for feeding support to be effective; the need for intensive intervention during the first crucial 2 weeks¹⁷ and potential benefits of daily telephone support³⁰. Helpers will encourage women to let them know as soon as convenient after the birth and our PPI group will advise us on how best to achieve this. We will also develop local mechanisms for the ABA feeding team to be notified of births using health service networks. We propose that the ABA feeding team should telephone within 24 hours of the woman going home and offer an early face-to-face session with the mother. This will provide the opportunity to observe a breastfeed.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 24

Subsequent support will be brief daily telephone call/texts until the baby is 2-weeks old³⁰ then reducing in frequency up to 8 weeks based on maternal preference, with final texts at 3, 4 and 5 months. The ABA feeding helpers will be able to choose from a library of texts co-produced with mothers. Home visits or meetings in community venues can also be organised as required. Telephone support has been effective in previous trials⁸⁰. Women will be able to request that texts and calls stop at any point.

The provisional development and refinement of the SMS text messages will take place from the start of the study up to the start of intervention delivery. This will draw on the researchers' extensive qualitative data collected about what help women would like with infant feeding^{4-8, 22, 32}, PPI input, relevant literature and experience designing SMS messages for behaviour change for other interventions (PH,KJ, SD). We will write draft texts based on guotes in gualitative papers and facts from infant feeding websites and SD will assist with ensuring that we embed the behavioural change techniques (BCTs) within these messages. We will identify women in our target population from children's centres to support the study as PPI. We will ask these women to sort into piles cards with texts on - like, unsure, dislike - and probe why unsure/dislike. We will ask women for suggestions about other texts they would like. The ABA feeding team members and the co-applicants will do the same. This will be an iterative process throughout the study. An alternative to text messages will be provided for women who do not read English, as many women from south Asian ethnic backgrounds are not literate in their spoken first language. Very brief telephone calls/messages will be left in appropriate languages. If delivered in Wales, text will be delivered in Welsh and English. Women will also have the option of having text messages sent to a nominated intermediate person who would either translate the message or pass on the text message content verbally. In qualitative interviews with minority language speaking women we can explore the desirability and need for minority language texts as an alternative mode of delivery.

Training:

Current basic peer support training programmes are generally in the order of 20-24 hours with additional supervision. The peers are well trained in communication skills, providing mother-centred support (which includes listening, a non-judgemental approach and empathy) and in dealing with common breastfeeding problems and knowing when to refer for specialist help. This intervention will use these skills but additional training will be required to implement the assets-based proactive approach, the use of visual tools like family and social network trees⁷⁵ and ladders to map barriers and facilitators to breastfeeding⁷⁴. This will require a similar listening, non-judgemental approach that peers already learn, but specific examples of open questions will be provided and practiced. The ABA feeding teams will be trained in safety issues in relation to home visiting as well as practice telephone support using role play. Guided by PPI input, we will also train the former peer supporters to take a wider 'ABA feeding team' role antenatally, so that mothers who are considering formula feeding do not feel alienated and learn safe practices.

We expect this training to take about half a day, with a further half day training after a few weeks of practising the remodelled support, to discuss the ABA feeding team members' experiences, learning needs and to share good practice.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 25

8. TRIAL PROCEDURES AND ASSESSMENTS

8.1 Summary of assessments

Figure 2: Summary of assessments

Visit	Screening (before 28/40) weeks	Baseline (before 32/40) weeks	Day 2-3 PN (+ 7 days)	Week 8 PN (+ 30 or – 14 days)	Month 6 (+ or – 30 days)
Eligibility check	X				
Valid informed consent	X				
Relevant obstetric history taken	X				
Demographic data	X				
Infant feeding plans	X				
Randomisation		x			
Infant feeding status			х	x	х
Details of delivery				x	
Maternal wellbeing (WEMWBS)		x		x	X
Maternal satisfaction with support				x	х
Health & social resource use				x	
Infant feeding difficulties				x	
Use of childcare				x	х
*Recommended content can be disp	layed using	various sch	ematic fo	rmats. See SP	IRIT 2013

Trial Name: ABA StudyProtocol version no: 2.0Version Date: 4th April 2017Page 26 of 54

8.2 Study Procedures

SCREENING: Please note, details of the screening assessment have been described earlier in section 6.1.

8.3 Schedule of Assessments

Infant feeding status

Breastfeeding initiation defined in accordance with the UK Infant Feeding Survey¹⁷ as putting the baby to the breast, even if this was on one occasion only and includes giving babies expressed breast milk.

Exclusive breastfeeding defined in accordance with the WHO definition and covers the previous 24 hours⁸¹. "Exclusive breastfeeding is defined as no other food or drink, not even water, except breast milk (including milk expressed) for 6 months of life, but allows the infant to receive oral rehydration solution, drops and syrups (vitamins, minerals and medicines)."

Any breastfeeding is any breastmilk given within the previous 24 hours.

Maternal wellbeing

Maternal wellbeing will be measured using the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale⁸². Women will be asked if they can provide missing values at baseline and telephoned at subsequent follow-up points to collect missing data.

There is currently no validated option for dealing with missing data, except that missing data should not be imputed if more than three items are missing. The most recent guidance will be used. In the absence of new guidance, missing data will be imputed using the mean value of responses to items that a respondent has answered, and then using that mean score as the score for those questions that the respondent did not answer.

Maternal satisfaction with support

This will be measured using a one item question used in previous trial³⁰ and co-produced with PPI. Social support will be assessed using the MOS Social Support scale.

Health and social care resource use questionnaire:

Self-reported use of health and feeding support services

Use of childcare:

Use of childcare, either paid or unpaid during the previous 7 days.

8.4 Process evaluation

A mixed methods process evaluation will be undertaken alongside the trial. This will explore seven process outcomes. These are: (i) programme reach, (ii) fidelity of delivery by the ABA infant feeding team members, (iii) mothers' utilisation of local and personal assets to support breastfeeding, (iv) mothers' views of the ABA feeding intervention and acceptability, (v) ABA feeding team members views and experiences of the training they have received, and their views as to the acceptability and satisfaction with the intervention overall, (vi) views of other providers of maternity services, with a particular focus on issues of integration with other forms of support; (vii) any social desirability bias in reports from either ABA feeding team members or women assessed by triangulating data from multiple sources.

Data sources to support process evaluation will comprise:

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 27 of 54

(i) Recruitment and follow-up data including the number of information letters sent out, the number of women approached by a researcher in the scanning clinic, the number giving consent and being randomised and follow-up at 8 weeks and 6 months.

(ii) Baseline questionnaire will include data on age, ethnicity, marital status, index of multiple deprivation (IMD), educational attainment and employment of the mothers recruited to study.

(iii) Intervention logs kept by the ABA feeding teams to record timing, number, mode and duration of contacts and reasons for cessation of support, if this is given by the mother.

(iv) Recordings of face-to-face, telephone and SMS discussion between ABA feeding team members and women in the ABA intervention group. These will be analysed to ascertain the presence of the behavioural change techniques delivered by the ABA feeding team members, to identify evidence of utilisation of social network and community assets to support breastfeeding, to assess fidelity to person-centred, non-judgemental feeding approach and to triangulate the ABA feeding team members' logs of intervention contacts.

(v) Qualitative interviews will be conducted with a total of 20-30 women in the intervention and usual care groups, at a ratio of 2:1 (intervention: usual care).

Interviews will take place in the postnatal period at all participating sites over a range of time points (including some interviews in the week after the birth). We aim to capture a diversity of experience and we may conduct follow-up interviews with information-rich participants. We do not intend to conduct interviews during the antenatal period because of the risk of altering usual care and of contamination of the control group participants with the potential for a qualitative interview to go against the recommendations of the Baby Friendly Initiative in relation to discussions about feeding intentions.

Interviews will be face-to-face, by skype or telephone, according to the mother's choice. Mothers will have the option to have of someone of their choice present during the interview, as we have found that this can increase consent to be interviewed among women from socio-economically disadvantaged groups.

Sampling will be purposive. We aim for a diverse sample, and will ensure that this includes teenage mothers, women in socio-economically disadvantaged areas and women who have experienced different feeding journeys, including those who have primarily formula fed, those who have mixed fed and those who have primarily breastfed. We will include women whose contact with the ABA feeding team has been very high, about average and very low. Women in the usual care group whose 8-week questionnaire suggests that intervention contamination might have occurred will be selected into the 'usual care sample' for interview.

Interviews conducted with women in the intervention group will explore their experience of ABA feeding help. The purpose is to consider questions of experience and acceptability. We aim to elicit mothers' feelings and beliefs as to whether the intervention has enabled them to access forms of support that they would not otherwise have accessed, and to understand how women experience the interset, frequency and mode of delivery of the contacts they receive – which components of the intervention are valued and which are off-putting. Furthermore, the interviews will explore how the ABA intervention interacts with other support sources particularly in relation to community assets (breastfeeding support groups, mother and baby groups, etc.).

Interviews conducted with women in the usual care group will explore mothers' experiences of feeding support, will aim to gather experiences of 'usual care' – including experience of other forms of feeding support - and to identify and understand instances of contamination of the control group.

(vi) Qualitative interviews with all participating ABA feeding team members will explore intervention acceptability and satisfaction in relation to the training they have received and their experiences of delivering the intervention. Interviews will elicit experiences of delivering the intervention components and BCTs, and will consider barriers and facilitators to take-up and to intervention fidelity. Any unmet

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 28

training or supervision needs will be identified. Causes of intervention contamination as perceived by ABA feeding team members will be gathered.

(vii) Qualitative interviews (12) by telephone with professional maternity care providers, including midwives, health visitors, managers and children's centre staff will explore referral or delivery issues and the experience of integration of the ABA feeding team members into the wider early years services. We will explore issues of contamination (e.g. whether they or their colleagues have adopted the ABA approach or materials to support ABA for use with mothers in the usual care group) and issues of displacement (e.g. whether ABA mothers were seen as 'already receiving support' so that the care focus was redirected to mothers in the control group. Professionals' perceptions of the impact of the community assets-based element will also be sought.

Process outcomes:

(i) Programme reach will be measured by the uptake, randomisation, retention and characteristics of women. We will use the recruitment, baseline questionnaire and follow-up data to assess reach.

(ii) Fidelity of delivery by the ABA feeding team members will be measured by an analysis of the content of recorded face-to-face and telephone discussions between ABA feeding team members and mothers, activity logs kept by ABA feeding team members and qualitative interviews with both ABA feeding team members and women in the intervention group to triangulate data.

(iii) Utilisation of local and personal assets for feeding support will be explored through an analysis of the content of recorded face-to-face and telephone discussions between ABA feeding team members and mothers and qualitative interviews with both ABA feeding team members and women in the intervention group.

(iv) Mothers' views of the ABA feeding team intervention and acceptability will be explored through the qualitative interviews with the mothers and any significant others that the mother wishes to be present.

(v) Views of the ABA feeding team members in relation to training, acceptability and satisfaction will be explored in interviews with the ABA feeding team. All ABA feeding team members will be invited to be interviewed.

(vi) Views of other providers of maternity services in relation to integration with other support offered to women will be explored through the telephone interviews with a range of professionals and service providers.

(vii) <u>The presence of social desirability bias</u> will be assessed using logs of ABA feeding team, SMS messages and telephone calls recorded, interviews with mothers and ABA feeding team and routine feeding status data.

8.5 Participant Withdrawal

No participant will be excluded as a result of deviation from protocol or discontinuation with the intervention. Analyses will be by intention to treat. We will ask women who withdraw prior to 8 weeks whether they would be willing for us to collect data on feeding at 8 weeks from their health visitor records or routinely collected data.

9. ADVERSE EVENT REPORTING

9.1 Reporting Requirements

The collection and reporting of Adverse Events (AEs) will be in accordance with the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care and the requirements of the National Research Ethics Service (NRES). Definitions of different types of AEs are listed in the table of abbreviations and

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 29

definitions. The CI will assess the seriousness and causality (relatedness) of all AEs experienced by the trial participants which will be documented in the source data with reference to the protocol.

9.2 Adverse Events (AE)

AEs are rarely encountered in participants receiving peer support for breastfeeding and no related harms have been reported in the extensive literature on this intervention, which is provided outside the NHS. Only AEs that are related to infant feeding difficulties will be collected. We will collect potential adverse events at 8 weeks through an open question asking for details for difficulties experienced feeding their baby.

9.3 Serious Adverse Advents (SAE)

SAEs will be collected as part of the routine 8 week follow-up questionnaire for both the mother and infant. Only SAEs that relate to potential infant feeding will be captured. Participants will be asked whether they or their baby have been admitted to hospital for an overnight stay since birth and whether it was related to feeding problems. The PI or delegate will telephone the participant for further information about the adverse event if required.

The CI will review the AEs and SAEs and define the causality and the severity of the AEs. Only SAEs that could plausibly be related to infant feeding will be reported. Examples of these include hospital admission for maternal breast abscess, failure of the infant to feed, failure of infant to gain weight, vomiting and diarrhoea.

9.4 Reporting period

Details of all AEs will be documented and those potentially related to the intervention reported from the date of giving birth until 8 weeks postnatal.

On becoming aware that a participant has experienced an SAE, a study research fellow must complete, date and sign an SAE Form. The form should be returned to the ABA Birmingham trial office using one of the numbers listed below as soon as possible and no later than 24 hours after first becoming aware of the event:

To report an SAE, fax the SAE Form to:

<Insert fax number> or <Insert fax number>>

On receipt the ABA study team will allocate each SAE a unique reference number. The SAE reference number should be quoted on all correspondence and follow-up reports regarding the SAE.

9.5 Reporting Procedure – ABA Study team

On receipt the ABA study team will allocate each SAE a unique reference number which will be forwarded to the site as proof of receipt within 1 working day. The SAE reference number will be quoted on all correspondence and follow-up reports regarding the SAE and filed with the actual SAE in the TMF.

On receipt of an SAE Form seriousness and causality will be determined independently by the Cl. An SAE judged by the Cl to have a reasonable causal relationship with the trial intervention will be regarded as a related SAE. The Cl will also assess all related SAEs for expectedness. If the event is unexpected (i.e. is not defined in the protocol as an expected event) it will be classified as an unexpected and related SAE. Based on this intervention we do not expect SUSAR, but should we identify SUSAR we will report these.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 30

9.6 Reporting to the Competent Authority and main Research Ethics Committee

9.6.1 Unexpected and Related Serious Adverse Events

The ABA study team will report all events categorised as Unexpected and Related SAEs to the main REC and RGT within 15 days.

9.6.2 Other safety issues identified during the course of the trial

The main REC and RGT will be notified immediately if a significant safety issue is identified during the course of the trial.

9.7 Investigators

Details of all Unexpected and Related SAEs and any other safety issue which arises during the course of the trial will be reported to Principal Investigators. A copy of any such correspondence should be filed in the site file.

9.8 Study Steering Committee

We do not plan to have a separate data monitoring committee, the independent Study Steering Committee (SSC/DMC) will review all SAEs during the meetings.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 31

10. DATA HANDLING AND RECORD KEEPING

10.1 Source Data

In order to allow for the accurate reconstruction of the trial and clinical management of the subject, source data will be accessible and maintained. Baseline data will be collected in the contact details form and eligibility form and by participant completed questionnaire. All data will be collected directly from the participant – no data will be transcribed from medical records unless the woman is unclear about her due date. In this circumstance the researcher will ask the woman for permission to look in her hand held maternity records to check the estimated date of delivery. Follow-up data will all be obtained directly from the participant by SMS text, postal or emailed questionnaire. Additional data on infant feeding status will be sought from the health visiting records routinely stored by the Local Authority.

Details of questionnaire, contact details form and eligibility form content is in section 1.12 (Summary of assessments)

10.2 Completion of forms

All data will be handled in accordance with the UK Data Protection Act 1998. All identifiable data transferred will be subject to the appropriate Informational Governance protocol.

The eligibility form and questionnaires will not bear the participant's full name. The participant's initials, date of birth and trial number, will be used for identification. Personal identifiable data will be collected on a contact details form.

The forms will comprise, but will not necessarily be limited to, the following forms

Form name	Schedule for submission
Contact details form	Collected at recruitment
Eligibility Form	Collected at randomisation
Baseline	As soon as possible after visit
Follow Up questionnaires (8 weeks and 6 months)	Not applicable - postal questionnaires
Serious Adverse Event (SAE) Form	Faxed/delivered within 24hrs of research staff becoming aware of event

Questionnaires must be completed, signed/dated and returned to the local **ABA** Study Office (Birmingham or Bristol) by the PI or an authorised member of the site research team (as delegated on the **ABA Study Signature & Delegation Log**) within the timeframe listed in the table above. Any errors on the eligibility form should be crossed out with a single stroke, the correction inserted and the change initialled and dated. If it is not obvious why a change has been made, an explanation should be written next to the change. If information is not known, this must be clearly indicated on the eligibility form or questionnaire

Staff delegated to complete study forms will be trained to adhere to the guidelines as documented below:

- Study forms completion and corrections The forms will be completed by the researcher. Any corrections will be crossed through and the researcher will sign and date the change.
- Date format and partial dates Dates are to be completed as set-out in the eligibility form (DD-MMM-YYYY). If the actual date of birth is unknown, but month and year are known, the first of the month will be used

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 32

- Estimated date of delivery will be obtained from the mother's hand-held maternity record and entered onto the study eligibility form.
- The contact details form, eligibility from and baseline questionnaire will be completed at • recruitment, which should be prior to 32 weeks gestation. An SMS text will be sent at 2-3 days post delivery (up to 10 days post delivery); questionnaires will be sent when the baby is 8 weeks old (-14 to +30 days) and 6 months (+/- 30 days).
- If a participant withdraws from the trial they will be asked for permission to seek routinely • collected data from that collected by their health visitor.
- Where there is missing data, the participant will be telephoned or emailed within 14 days of • receipt of the questionnaire to seek clarification. The missing data will be highlighted and the record will be signed and dated to identify when the data were obtained and how.
- In the absence of date of delivery, the data will be obtained from the community midwife. The date of birth of the mother and mothers name will be used to confirm correct identity.

Data reported on each form will be consistent with the source data and any discrepancies will be explained. All missing and ambiguous data will be gueried. Staff delegated to complete study forms will be trained to adhere to GCP.

In all cases it remains the responsibility of the site's PI, delegated to the study research fellows to ensure that the study forms have been completed correctly and that the data are accurate.

The completed originals will be submitted to BCTU through completion of an online database. Paper copies will be stored in the site file.

10.2 Participant completed Questionnaires

Participant completed questionnaires will be administered and completed by the participant at the baseline assessment and by post/telephone at follow-up points. Questionnaire completion and training will be overseen by a named individual who can answer any questions the participant may have regarding the rationale and method of assessment. The participant will be asked to complete the questionnaire during the baseline assessment. Follow-up questionnaires will either be posted to participants to be completed at home, or participants will be called to complete the questionnaire over the telephone (according to preference indicated at recruitment). Ideally the questionnaire should be completed by the participant alone (without assistance from friends, family or the clinical or research team). Any assistance or proxy completion at baseline will be recorded and flagged to the trials office. On completion, the questionnaires will be checked on site by a member of the research team for missing data. The participant will be given the opportunity to complete any missing data. If there are missing data on postal questionnaires, the participant will be phoned within 14 days to obtain the missing data.

In the case of follow up questionnaires not being returned by participants, the following methods will be employed:

Sending another copy of the questionnaire in the post •

- A telephone call/text to the participant from the research team to encourage completion, or offer phone completion
- Collection of the primary outcome only by telephone or text

Staff delegated to administer the questionnaires will be trained to adhere to the following completion guidelines in addition to the study forms completion guidelines provided above:

- Questionnaires to be completed in accordance with completion instructions.
- Participants will be encouraged to answer all questions when completing the study forms and the questionnaires.
- Questionnaires will be checked for missing data and where feasible participants will be given the opportunity to complete any missing data.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 33

10.3 Data Management

Processes will be employed to facilitate the accuracy of the data included in the final report. These processes will be detailed in the trial specific data management plan. Coding and validation will be agreed between the trial team and the trial programmer and the trial database will be signed off once the implementation of these has been assured.

Study forms and questionnaires will be entered onto the database by staff in the ABA research team in accordance with the trial specific work instruction. A tracking system for Study forms and questionnaires will be employed. The data management plan will detail the process for dealing with data gueries which will be managed through the use of data clarification forms. The type of self evident corrections that can be made will be agreed.

The security of the System is governed by the policies of the University of Birmingham. The University's Data Protection Policy and the Conditions of Use of Computing and Network Facilities set out the security arrangements under which sensitive data should be processed and stored. All studies at the University of Birmingham have to be registered with the Data Protection officer and data held in accordance with the data protection act. The University will designate a Data Protection Officer upon registration of the study. The Study Centre has arrangements in place for the secure storage and processing of the study data which comply with the University of Birmingham policies.

The System shall incorporate the following security countermeasures:

- Physical security measures: including restricted access to the building, supervised onsite repairs and storages of back-up tapes/disks are stored in a fire-proof safe.
- Logical measures for access control and privilege management: including restricted accessibility, access controlled servers, separate storage of non-identifiable data etc.
- <u>Network security measures:</u> including site firewalls, antivirus software, separate secure network protected hosting etc.
- System Management: the System shall be developed by the BCTU Programming Team and will be implemented and maintained by the BCTU Programming Team.
- System Design: the system shall comprise of a database and a data entry application with firewalls, restricted access, encryption and role based security controls.
- Operational Processes: the data will be processed and stored within the Study Centre (University of Birmingham).
- Data processing: Statisticians will only have access to anonymised data.
 - System Audit: The System shall benefit from the following internal/external audit arrangements: o Internal audit of the system
 - An annual IT risk assessment
- Data Protection Registration: The University of Birmingham has Data Protection Registration to cover the purposes of analysis and for the classes of data requested. The University's Data Protection Registration number is Z6195856.

10.4 Archiving

All records created by following trial procedures and all documents listed in guidance relating to the conduct of the trial will be retained and archived for a period of 10 years from the end of the study, in accordance with the UoB Code of Practice for research.

It is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator to ensure all essential trial documentation and source documents (e.g. signed Informed Consent Forms, Investigator Site Files, participants' hospital notes, etc.) at their site are securely retained for at least 10 years.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 34

11. QUALITY CONTROL AND QUALITY ASSURANCE

11.1 Site Set-up and Initiation

The CI will be required to sign a University of Birmingham internal CI agreement which will also list the duties delegated from the University of Birmingham to the CI. The University of Birmingham internal CI agreement document must be completed prior to participation. The CI will in addition be required to sign a task delegation log which will list the duties delegated from the CI to the BCTU. In addition all participating Investigators will be asked to sign the necessary agreements and supply a current CV and GCP certificate to BCTU. All members of the site research team will also be required to sign the Site Signature and Delegation Log. Prior to commencing recruitment all sites will undergo a process of initiation. Key members of the site research team will be required to attend either a meeting or a teleconference covering aspects of the trial design, protocol procedures, Adverse Event reporting, collection and reporting of data and record keeping. Sites will be provided with an Investigator Site File containing essential documentation, instructions, and other documentation required for the conduct of the trial. The BCTU trials team must be informed immediately of any change in the site research team.

11.2 Monitoring

Trials staff will be in regular contact with the research team to check on progress and address any queries that they may have. Trials staff will check incoming Case Report Forms for compliance with the protocol, data consistency, missing data and timing. Researchers will be sent Data Clarification Forms requesting missing data or clarification of inconsistencies or discrepancies.

Sites will be requested to send in copies of signed Informed Consent Forms and other documentation for in-house review for all participants providing explicit consent. This will be detailed in the monitoring plan.

11.3 Audit and Inspection

The Investigator will permit trial-related monitoring, audits, ethical review, and regulatory inspection(s) at their site, providing direct access to source data/documents. The investigator will comply with these visits and any required follow up.

1.1. Notification of Serious Breaches

The sponsor is responsible for notifying the REC of any serious breach of the conditions and principles of GCP in connection with that trial or the protocol relating to that trial. Sites are therefore requested to notify the Trials Office of any suspected trial-related serious breach of GCP and/or the trial protocol. Where the Trials Office is investigating whether or not a serious breach has occurred sites are also requested to cooperate with the Trials Office in providing sufficient information to report the breach to the REC where required and in undertaking any corrective and/or preventive action.

Sites may be suspended from further recruitment in the event of serious and persistent noncompliance with the protocol and/or GCP, and/or poor recruitment. Any major problems identified during monitoring may be reported *to* the Study Management Group, Study Steering Committee, and the REC. This includes reporting serious breaches of GCP and/or the trial protocol to the REC. A copy is sent to the University of Birmingham Clinical Research Compliance Team at the time of reporting to the REC.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 35

12. END OF TRIAL DEFINITION

The end of trial will be the date of the last data capture (follow-up visit or qualitative interview). The BCTU trial team will notify the main REC and RGT that the trial has ended and a summary of the study report will be provided within 12 months of the end of study.

A copy of the end of study notification as well as the summary report is also sent to the University of Birmingham Research Governance Team at the time of sending these are sent to the REC.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 36
13. STATISTICAL, QUALITATIVE AND ECONOMICS CONSIDERATIONS

13.1 Analysis of Outcome Measures

The analyses will be undertaken after the completion of the 8 week and 6 month follow-ups.

We will report recruitment and follow-up rates, with 95% confidence intervals, as a measure of feasibility of the trial.

The number and mode of ABA feeding team and peer support contacts for both intervention and control groups will assess the implementation of the intervention and levels of contamination of the control group.

Although the trial is not powered to detect a difference between the intervention and control groups, we will calculate the percentage of women initiating breastfeeding, breastfeeding and exclusively breastfeeding at 8 weeks and 6 months and the WEMWBS for those allocated to the intervention and those allocated to the control group; 95% confidence intervals will be provided for estimates obtained also. We will also evaluate dropout and data completeness for the feasibility study. This will inform the sample size calculation and which outcomes can feasibly be measured in a future definitive trial. The characteristics of participants will be reported by randomisation group and simple summaries provided for each of the recorded outcome measures.

13.2 Power Calculation

The sample size has been chosen to enable estimation of the feasibility outcomes with reasonable precision. We will be able to estimate the recruitment, follow-up and questionnaire completion rates to within +/-15% with 95% confidence, based on a worst case estimate of 50% for each outcome (target is 75%, 75% and 70% respectively).

To inform the sample size calculation for a future definitive trial, we will calculate the percentages of women initiating breastfeeding and breastfeeding at 8 weeks for those allocated to the intervention and those allocated to the control group; 95% confidence intervals will also be provided for estimates obtained⁸⁴.

In each site, we aim to recruit at least 50 women to achieve an overall sample size of 100, with half randomised to our intervention group. With 50 women in each group, if in one group the percentage of women breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks was 44% a 95% confidence interval (CI) for this estimate would range from 30.0% to 58.7%. For the percentage of women initiating breastfeeding an estimate may be 60% with corresponding 95% CI 45.2% to 73.6%. We wish to ensure that within this sample we recruit sufficient teenagers and women of low socio-economic status and women with a low social network experience of breastfeeding, to ensure that their experience of the intervention is investigated. We have selected our sites accordingly and part way through recruitment will review the characteristics of those recruited and can further focus the invitations to areas with most disadvantage and high rates of teen pregnancy.

13.3 Qualitative research methods, data management and analysis

Qualitative interviews with women will take place in the woman's home, at another convenient location, or over the telephone/skype, if preferred. Interviews with health professionals are most likely to be by telephone, as we have found this method to be most convenient to the participants. 10-15 women per site will be purposively selected to ensure representation from teenagers and low income women.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 37

We will develop semi-structured interview schedules based on the research literature, discussion within the team and input from PPI and will be informed by our logic model. All interviews will be recorded and transcribed verbatim. Reflective notes will be made following each interview.

We will use framework analysis for the interviews and focus groups⁸⁵. A sample of transcripts will be read and re-read by the researchers independently to develop an initial coding matrix of themes and categories. This will be discussed, refined and agreed before the remainder of the transcripts are analysed using the agreed coding framework. A decision about which coding software to use will depend on the skills and experience of the researchers, but we anticipate it will be NVivo. The qualitative researchers will agree the coding framework and work collaboratively on the analysis. All data will be anonymised and any potentially identifying features removed.

13.4 Economic component

The exploration of feasibility of appropriate data collection for the purpose of a future economic evaluation in this trial, is restricted to exploring the achievability of collecting all health service related resource use associated with providing the intervention. This will show how possible it will be to appropriately estimate all health service costs associated with the intervention e.g. training the ABA feeding team, telephone calls, text messaging service, one-to-one meetings with mother, staff time to respond to requests via text message, payments to peer supporters). The collection of this resource use will be the responsibility of the trial staff through diaries and worksheets relating to facilities and time used. We will not be exploring the feasibility of obtaining outcomes in terms of quality of life using instruments such as EQ-5D or SF-36. We anticipate that EQ-5D-5L, although short is not appropriate for capturing outcomes associated with this intervention. While the SF-36 is more sensitive, it is lengthy. Our previous experience in this area strongly suggests that any attempt to collect outcomes using these instruments in these circumstances, where women are tired and already fully occupied, is likely to detract and impede on the assessment of the feasibility of achieving the principal outcomes of increasing the uptake of breastfeeding. Therefore, any future economic evaluation will be presented in terms of the additional cost per additional case of breast feeding for the intervention compared to usual practice. A future economic evaluation may consider the appropriateness of linking the intermediate outcome of an increase in the uptake of breastfeeding to the longer term health benefits using a model based economic evaluation.

13.5 Criteria for progression to a main trial

For the phase III trial to be considered the following criteria need to be met:

(i) Process evaluation suggests the intervention is acceptable to a majority of mothers, their partners, ABA feeding team members and local services;

(ii) recruitment of at least 75 women in 3 months;

(iii) able to recruit women of low socio-economic status, teenagers and ethnic minorities;

(iv) intervention implemented with fidelity in 75% of mothers (this will be defined as contacts made in both the antenatal and postnatal period);

(v) 75% receiving the assets-based antenatal face-to-face contact;

 $(v_i) > 70\%$ follow up at 8 weeks and 6 months with ability to obtain additional missing data from routine sources.

The level of contamination of the usual care arm will inform whether an individually randomised trial would be feasible, or whether a cluster RCT would be necessary. A cluster RCT would also be considered necessary if qualitative interviews confirm that integration at a community level is the key mechanism of action, making individual randomisation impossible.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 38

14. TRIAL ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

14.1 Sponsor

The University of Birmingham is the nominated sponsor for this study.

14.2 Study Management Group

The SMG will comprise the CI, other lead investigators and members of the BCTU. The SMG will be responsible for the day-to-day running and management of **ABA**. It will convene at least once a month, and more frequently when required.

14.3 Trial Steering Committee

The Study Steering Committee (SSC) will provide the overall supervision of the trial. The SSC will monitor study progress and conduct and advise on scientific credibility. The SSC will consider whether the trial needs a separate Data Monitoring Committee (DMC). The SSC will have responsibility for deciding whether the study needs to be stopped on grounds of safety or efficacy.

The SSC will be chaired by Professor Angela Harden, University of East London; it will include two additional academic members, one of which will be a statistician, and a lay member.

14.4 Data Monitoring Committee

We do not propose that a data monitoring and ethics committee would be useful as this is an unblinded study with no substantial risk and no early termination rules. The final decision will be made by the SSC.

14.5 Finance

This is a researcher-initiated and researcher-led study funded by the NIHR Public Health Research programme. The intervention will be funded by the local authorities where the services are provided (Birmingham City Council and South Gloucestershire Council).

15. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The trial will be performed in accordance with the recommendations guiding physicians in biomedical research involving human subjects, adopted by the 18th World Medical Association General Assembly, Helsinki, Finland, 1964, amended by the 48th WMA General Assembly, Somerset West, Republic of South Africa, 1996 (website:

http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html).

The trial will be conducted in accordance with the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care, the applicable UK Statutory Instruments, (which include the Data Protection Act 1998) and the Principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP) The protocol will be submitted to and approved by the main Research Ethics Committee (REC) prior to circulation.

Before any participants are enrolled into the trial, the Principal Investigator at each site is required to obtain local R&D approval/assurance. Sites will not be permitted to enrol participants until written confirmation of R&D approval/assurance is received by the BCTU trials team.

It is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator to ensure that all subsequent amendments gain the necessary local approval. This does not affect the individual researchers' responsibility to take immediate action if thought necessary to protect the health and interest of individual participants.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 39

16. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DATA PROTECTION

Personal data recorded on all documents will be regarded as strictly confidential and will be handled and stored in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998.

Participants will always be identified using only their unique trial identification number and date of birth on the questionnaires and correspondence between the BCTU. Participants will give their explicit consent for the movement of their consent form and the Contact details Form (which includes personal identifiers), from where they were collected to the University of Birmingham (for participants recruited in Birmingham) and to the University of Bristol (for participants recruited in South Gloucestershire). This will be used to perform in-house monitoring of the consent process".

BCTU will maintain the confidentiality of all participants' data and will not disclose information by which participants may be identified to any third party other than organisations for which the participant has given explicit consent for data transfer (e.g. competent authority, sponsor). Representatives of the ABA trial team and sponsor may be required to have access to participant's notes for quality assurance purposes but participants should be reassured that their confidentiality will be respected at all times.

17. INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The University of Birmingham has in place Clinical Trials indemnity coverage for this trial which provides cover to the University for harm which comes about through the University's, or its staff's, negligence in relation to the design or management of the trial and may alternatively, and at the University's discretion provide cover for non-negligent harm to participants.

With respect to the conduct of the trial at Site and other clinical care of the patient, responsibility for the care of the patients remains with the NHS organisation responsible for the Clinical Site and is therefore indemnified through the NHS Litigation Authority.

18. PUBLICATION POLICY

Trial March A DA Church

NOTE: Regulatory requirements:

The CI will coordinate dissemination of data from ABA.

Dissemination will focus on: the findings in relation to the successes and barriers to implementing the ABA feeding team intervention and the findings of the feasibility trial. The level of dissemination will be in keeping with that appropriate for a feasibility study.

A monograph with an accessible lay summary will be prepared for the NIHR. Results of this trial will be submitted for publication in a peer reviewed journal. The manuscript will be prepared by the Professor Kate Jolly and authorship will be determined by mutual agreement.

Where journals have a maximum number of authors, the list of co-authors may need to be truncated and use of the text 'on behalf of the ABA research team' used with a full listing of the other named contributors in the acknowledgements section of the publications.

Any secondary publications and presentations prepared by Investigators must be reviewed by the study investigators. Manuscripts must be submitted to the *NIHR* in a timely fashion and in advance of being submitted for publication, to allow time for review and resolution of any outstanding issues. Authors must acknowledge that the trial was performed with the support of the NIHR and University of Birmingham. Intellectual property rights will be addressed in the project agreement between the Universities of Birmingham, Stirling, Cardiff, Central Lancashire and Bristol.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 40

REFERENCE LIST

- Sinha B, Chowdhury R, Sankar MJ, Martines J, Taneja S, et al. Interventions to improve breastfeeding outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467): 114–35.
- Britten J, Hoddinott P, McInnes RJ. Breastfeeding peer support: a descriptive study of health service programmes in Scotland. British Journal of Midwifery. 2006;14(1):12-19. Editor's correction: British Journal of Midwifery. 2006;14(4):232.
- 3. Hoddinott P, Britten J, Pill R. Why do interventions work in some places and not others: A breastfeeding group trial. Social Science & Medicine 2010;70(5):769-78.
- 4. Hoddinott P, Craig L, MacLennan G, Boyers D, Vale L. Process evaluation for the FEeding Support Team (FEST) randomised controlled feasibility trial of proactive and reactive telephone support for breastfeeding women living in disadvantaged areas. BMJ Open 2012;2(2):e001039.
- 5. Thompson G, Ebisch-Burton K, Flacking R. Shame if you do shame if you don't: women's experiences of infant feeding. Maternal and Child Nutrition 2015;11(1)33-46.
- Schmied V, Beake S, Sheehan A, McCourt C, Dykes F. Meta-synthesis of women's perceptions and experiences of breastfeeding support. JBI Library of Systematic Reviews 2009;7(14):583-614.
- 7. Thomson G, Crossland N, Dykes F. Giving me hope: Women's reflections on a breastfeeding peer support service. Maternal & Child Nutrition 2012;8(3), 340-53.
- 8. Hoddinott P, Craig L, Britten J, McInnes R. A longitudinal qualitative study of infant feeding experiences: idealism meets realism. BMJ Open 2012;2:e000504.
- NICE. Behaviour change: individual approaches [PH49]. NICE 2014. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ ph49/chapter/recommendations#recommendation-8-ensureinterventions-meet-individual-needs.
- 10. Hoddinott P, Seyara R, Marais D. Global evidence synthesis and UK idiosyncrasy: why have recent UK trials had no significant effects on breastfeeding rates? Maternal and Child Nutrition. 2011;7(3):221-227.
- The Baby Friendly Initiative, UNICEF UK (2015). Working within the international code of marketing of breastmilk substitutes: A guide for health workers. http://www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby_Friendly/Guidance/guide_int_code_health_professiona ls.pdf
- 12. First Steps Nutrition Trust. Infant milks in the UK: A practical guide for health professionals. June 2015. http://www.firststepsnutrition.org/newpages/infants/infant_feeding_infant_milks_UK.html
- 13. Dennis CL. Peer support within a health care context: a concept analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2003;40:321-2.
- 14. Eidelman AI, Schanler RS. Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk. Pediatrics 2012;129(3):e827-41.
- 15. Kenyon S, Jolly K, Hemming K, Ingram L, Gale N, Dann SA, Chambers J, MacArthur C. The ELSIPS trial: Evaluation of lay support in pregnant women with social risk: a randomised controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2012;12:11.
- Whitford HM, Donnan PT, Symon AG, Kellett G, et al. Evaluating the reliability, validity, acceptability, and practicality of SMS text messaging as a tool to collect research data: results from the Feeding Your Baby project. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 2012;01;19(5):744-9.
- 17. Infant Feeding Survey 2010. London: Health and Social Care Information Centre; 2012. Available at: https://catalogue.ic.nhs.uk/publications/public-health/surveys/infant-feed-surv-2010/ifs-uk-2010-sum.pdf.
- Information and Statistics Division, NHS Scotland: Breastfeeding statistics. Available at: https://isdscotland.scot.nhs.uk/Health-Topics/Child-Health/Publications/2012-10-30/2012-10-30-Breastfeeding-Report.pdf?31269472838
- 19. World Health Organisation. Global strategy for infant and young child feeding. Available at: www.who.int/nut/documents/gs_infant_feeding_text_eng.pdf.
- 20. National Institute for Health and Care. Postnatal care: Routine postnatal care of women and their babies. 2006. Available at: http://www.nice.org.uk/CG037.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 41

- 21. Bhavnani V, Newburn M. Left to your own devices: The postnatal care experiences of 1260 firsttime mothers. London: National Childbirth Trust; 2010. Available at: http://www.nct.org.uk/sites/default/files/related_documents/PostnatalCareSurveyReport5.pdf.
- 22. Hoddinott P, Craig L, Britten J, McInnes R. A prospective study exploring the early infant feeding experiences of parents and their significant others during the first 6 months of life: what would make a difference? Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland; 2010. Available at: http://www.healthscotland.com/documents/4720.aspx
- 23. NICE. Maternal and child nutrition. NICE Public health guidance 11. March 2008
- 24. Department of Health/DCSF. Commissioning local breastfeeding support services. Sept 2009
- 25. Ingram L, MacArthur C, Khan K. Deeks JJ, Jolly K. Effect of antenatal peer support on breastfeeding initiation: a systematic review. CMAJ 2010;182:1739-1746.
- Jolly K, Ingram L, Khan KS, Deeks JJ, Freemantle N, MacArthur C. Systematic review of peer support for breastfeeding continuation: a meta-regression analysis of the effect of setting, intensity and timing. BMJ 2012;344:d8287.
- 27. Renfrew MJ, McCormick FM, Wade A, Quin B, Dowswell T. Support for healthy breastfeeding mothers with healthy term babies. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews; 2012. Report No.: Issue 5. Art. No.: CD001141. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD001141.pub4.
- 28. Hoddinott P, Seyara R, Marais D. Global evidence synthesis and UK idiosyncrasy: why have recent UK trials had no significant effects on breastfeeding rates? Maternal and Child Nutrition 2011;7(3):221-227.
- 29. Dennis CL, Hodnett E, Gallop R, Chalmers B. The effect of peer support on breast-feeding duration among primiparous women: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 2002;166(1):21-28.
- Hoddinott P, Craig L, MacLennan G, Boyers D, Vale L. The FEeding Support Team (FEST) randomised controlled feasibility trial of proactive and reactive telephone support for breastfeeding women living in disadvantaged areas. BMJ Open 2012;2(2):e000652.
- Trickey H, Newburn M. Goals, dilemmas and assumptions in infant feeding education and support. Applying theory of constraints thinking tools to develop new priorities for action. Maternal & Child Nutrition 2014; 10: 72–91.
- 32. Ingram J. A mixed methods evaluation of peer support in Bristol, UK: mothers', midwives' and peer supporters' views and the effects on breastfeeding. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2013;13:192. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2393/13/192
- 33. Anderson AK, Damio G, Young S, Chapman DJ, Perez-Escamilla R. A randomised trial assessing the efficacy of peer counseling on exclusive breastfeeding in a predominantly Latina low-income community. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2005;159(9):836–41.
- Chapman DJ, Damio GD, Young S, Perez-Escamilla R. Effectiveness of breastfeeding peer counseling in a low income, predominantly Latina population. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004;158(9):897–902.
- Regional Public Health Group for London. Breastfeeding peer support in London: a guide for commissioners. March 2012. http://nhfshare.heartforum.org.uk/RMAssets/OLC_Resources/ BF_peer_support_final_report_March_2012.pdf
- 36. Brown A, Davies R. Fathers' experiences of supporting breastfeeding: challenges for breastfeeding promotion and education. Maternal & Child Nutrition 201410:510–526.
- 37. Renfrew MJ, Ansell P, Macleod KL. Formula feed preparation: helping reduce the risks; a systematic review. Arch Dis Child 2003;88:855-858.
- 38. Lakshman R, Ogilvie D, Ong KK. Mothers' experiences of bottle-feeding: a systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. Arch Dis Child 2009;94:8 596-601.
- 39. Fair Society, Healthy Lives: the Marmot Review. Strategic review of health inequalities in England post 2010. Available at: http://www.marmotreview.org/.
- 40. Horta BL, Victora CG. Long-term effects of breastfeeding: a systematic review. WHO 2013. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/79198/1/9789241505307_eng.pdf
- 41. lp S, Chung M, Raman G, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2007;153:1-186.
- 42. Bowatte G, Tham R, Allen KJ, Tan DJ, Lau M, Dai X, et al. Breastfeeding and childhood acute otitis media: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467):85–95.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 42

- 43. Horta BL, de Mola CL, Victora CG. Long-term consequences of breastfeeding on cholesterol, obesity, systolic blood pressure, and type-2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467): 30–7.
- 44. Chowdhury R, Sinha B, Sankar MJ, , et al. Breastfeeding and maternal health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467): 96–113.
- 45. Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau M, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe AJ, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467):38–53.
- 46. Peres KG, Cascaes AM, Nascimento GG, Victora CG. Effect of breastfeeding on malocclusions: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467): 54–61.
- 47. Horta BL, de Mola CL, Victora CG. Breastfeeding and intelligence: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104 (Suppl. 467): 14–9.
- 48. Antonovsky, A. Unraveling the mystery of health. How people manage stress and stay well. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco 1987.
- 49. Anotonovsky, A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. Health Promotion International 1996;11:11-18.
- 50. NHS Health Scotland. Asset Based Approaches to Health Improvement: Evidence for Action Glasgow. Glasgow: NHS Health Scotland 2012.
- 51. Nussbaum, Martha C. and Amartya Sen, eds. "The Quality of Life" Oxford: Clarendon Press 1993.
- 52. McLean J. Asset Based Approaches to Health Improvement: Redressing the Balance. Briefing Paper 9 Glasgow: Glasgow Centre for Population Health 2011. http://www.gcph.co.uk/work_programmes/new_asset_based_approaches_to_health_improvemen
- 53. Aradon G. On the Borderline: Development Trusts Tackling Poverty in the UK. DTA 2007 http://www.dtascot.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/ontheborderline.Pdf
- 54. Cooke I. "Trust in the Community?" Concept Journal of Contemporary Community Education Practice Theory2010:1(2):22–26.
- 55. O'Leary T. Does Asset Based Community Development Deliver Social Justice? Seminar Report SECC Glasgow, Scotland 2006. http://www.iacdglobal.org/files/rpt082006DoesABCDdeliverFinalPrint.pdf
- 56. Foot J, Hopkins T. A Glass Half-Full: How an Asset Approach Can Improve Community Health and Well-Being. London: Improvement & Development Agency 2010. http://www.assetbasedconsulting.net/uploads/publications/A%20glass%20half%20full.pdf
- 57. Lindstrom B, Eriksson M. "A Salutogenic Approach to Tackling Health Inequalities." In 2010 Health Assets in a Global Context – Theory, Methods, Action, Ed. Morgan A, Davies AM, Ziglio E. London: Springer 2010.
- 58. Hopkins T, Rippon S. Head, hands and heart: asset-based approaches in health care. The Health Foundation April 2015. http://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/HeadHandsAndHeartAssetBased ApproachesInHealthCare.pdf
- 59. Rempel LA, Rempel JK. The breastfeeding team: the role of involved fathers in the breastfeeding family. Journal of Human Lactation 2011;27(2):115–121.
- 60. Bar-Yam NB, Darby, L. Fathers and breastfeeding: a review of the literature. J Hum Lact 1997;13:45-50
- 61. Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation Science* 2011;6:42.
- 62. Chung M, Raman G, Trikalinos T, Lau J, lp S. Interventions in primary care to promote breastfeeding: An evidence review for the U.S. preventive services task force. Ann Int Med 2008;149(8):565-82.
- 63. MacArthur C, Jolly K, Ingram L, Freemantle N, Lee C-L, et al. Antenatal peer support workers and breastfeeding initiation: a cluster randomised controlled trial. British Medical Journal 2009;338(b131).

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 43

- 64. Jolly K, Ingram L, Freemantle N, Khan K, Chambers J, Hamburger R, Brown J, Dennis C-L, MacArthur C. Effect of a peer support service on breastfeeding continuation in the UK: a randomised controlled trial. Midwifery 2012;28:740-5.
- 65. McInnes RJ, Love JG, Stone DH. Evaluation of a community-based intervention to increase breastfeeding prevalence. J Public Health Med 2000; 22:138-45.
- 66. Graffy J, Taylor J, Williams A, Eldridge S. Randomised controlled trial of support from volunteer counsellors for mothers considering breast feeding. BMJ 2004; 328:26.
- 67. Muirhead PE, Butcher G, Rankin J, Munley A. The effect of a programme of organised and supervised peer support on the initiation and duration of breastfeeding: a randomised trial. British Journal of General Practice 2006; 56(524):191-197.
- 68. Renfrew MJ, Pokhrel S, Quigley M, McCormick F, et al. Preventing disease and saving resources: the potential contribution of increasing breastfeeding rates in the UK. UNICEF. October 2012 Available from: http://www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby_Friendly/Research/Preventing_disease_saving_resour ces.pdf
- 69. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M: Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008, 337:a1665.
- 70. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion intervention: the RE-AIM framework. American journal of Public Health 1999;89(9):1322-27.
- 71. Redshaw M, Heikkila K. Delivered with care: a national survey of women's experience of maternity care 2010. National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit, University of Oxford 2010. Available from: https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/reports/Maternity-Survey-Report-2010.pdf
- 72. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med. 2013; 46(1):81-95.
- 73. Michie S, Atkins L, West R. The Behaviour Change Wheel: A Guide to Designing Interventions. Silverback publishing: Great Britain, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-291-84605-8
- 74. Morgan H, Hoddinott P, Thomson G, Crossland N, Farrar S, Yi D, et al. Benefits of Incentives for Breastfeeding and Smoking cessation in pregnancy (BIBS): a mixed-methods study to inform trial design. Health Technol Assess 2015;19(30).
- 75. Darwent KL. The Experience of Being the First to Breastfeed in a Family: An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis. University of Stirling PhD thesis 2014.
- 76. McInnes R, Hoddinott P, Britten J, Darwent K, Craig L. Significant others, situations and infant feeding behaviour change processes: a serial qualitative interview study. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth: 2013:13:114
- 77. Mitchell-Box KM, Braun KL. Impact of male-partner-focused interventions on breastfeeding initiation, exclusivity, and continuation. J Hum Lact. 2013;29(4):473-9.
- 78. Maycock B, Binns CW, Dhaliwal S, et al. Education and support for fathers improves breastfeeding rates: a randomized controlled trial. J Hum Lact 2013;29(4):484-90.
- 79. NCT Information. 2015. https://www.nct.org.uk/parenting/feeding

- 80. Lavender T, Richens Y, Milan SJ, Smyth RMD, Dowswell T. Telephone support for women during pregnancy and the first six weeks postpartum. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 7. Art. No.: CD009338. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009338.pub2.
- 81. WHO. Indicators for assessing infant and young child feeding practices part 3: country profiles. WHO 2010. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44368/1/9789241599757_eng.pdf
- 82. Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes 2007;5:63.
- 83. Payne RA, Abel GA. UK indices of multiple deprivation a way to make comparisons across constituent countries easier. Health Statistics Quarterly 53; Spring 2012.
- 84. Teare MD, Dimairo M, et al. Sample size requirements to estimate key design parameters from external pilot randomised controlled trials: a simulation study. Trials 2014, 15:264.
- 85. Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Medl Res Methodol 2013, 13:117.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 44

APPENDICES



Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 45

Behaviour change techniques

	Behaviour change techniques		
No.	Label	Definition	Examples
1	Goals and planning		
1.2	Problem solving	Analyse, or prompt the person to analyse factors influencing the behaviour and generate or select strategies that include overcoming barriers and/or increasing facilitators.	Prompt the mother to consider wh may encourage or prevent them from successful breastfeeding. He the mother to identify strategies, solutions and support they can access to help overcome any difficulties.
1.3	Goal setting (outcome)	Set or agree on a goal defined in terms of a positive outcome of wanted behaviour.	To discuss the mother's (postnata only) goals for breastfeeding.
1.7	Review outcome goal(s)	Review outcome goal(s) jointly with the person and consider modifying goal(s) in light of achievement. This may lead to re-setting the same goal, a small change in that goal, or setting a new goal instead of, or in addition to the first.	To have ongoing discussions abo the mother's breastfeeding achievements, and to provide support for alternatives (i.e. mixed feeding, breastfeeding cessation) appropriate.
2	Feedback and monitoring		
2.7	Feedback on outcome(s) of behaviour	Monitor and provide feedback on the outcome of performance of the behaviour	Inform the mother about ongoing health benefits of breastfeeding at different stages.
3	Social support		
3.1	Social support (unspecified) Social support	Advise on, arrange or provide social support (e.g. from friends, relatives, colleagues, 'buddies' or staff) or non-contingent praise or reward for performance of the behaviour. It includes encouragement and counseling, but only when it is directed at the behaviour	Suggestthat the mother calls a 'buddy' if they feel they are struggling with feeding or need some support Provide positive feedback on mother's progress with breastfeeding. Arrange for a family member or friend to encourage continuation with breastfeeding Suggestthe mother call an infant
5.2	(practical)	practical help (e.g. from friends, relatives, colleagues, 'buddies' or staff) for performance of the behaviour	feeding helper, health professional helpline or 'buddy' if they feel they are struggling with feeding or new some support. Ask the partner/family members of the woman to bring her the baby when it is ready to feed, bring a drink for the mother Ask the partner/family members to help with other activities in the hor whilst the mother is feeding the ba

			(meal preparation, washing)
			(mearpreparation, washing)
			Encourage the mother to access a breastfeeding support group or to call a helpline during times when other people are not available to help.
3.3	Social support (emotional)	Advise on, arrange, or provide emotional social support (e.g. from friends, relatives, colleagues, 'buddies' or staff) for performance of the behaviour Social support (emotional) (includes ' <u>Motivational</u> interviewing' and <u>'Cognitive</u> <u>Behavioural Therapy'</u>)	Ask the woman to take a friend to the breastfeeding group, or ask the feeding helper to meet her there
4.	Shaping knowledge		
4.1	Instruction on how to perform a behaviour	Advise or agree on how to perform the behaviour (includes ' <u>Skills training</u> ')	Provide information (visual images, DVD) and model demonstrations to show the mother how to position her baby to facilitate good latching on Show a mother how to prepare a bottle of formula correctly.
			,-
5.	Natural consequences		
5.1	Information about health consequences	Provide information (e.g. written, verbal, visual) about health consequences of performing the behaviour	Explain the health benefits of breastfeeding to both the mother and baby.
6.	Comparison of behaviour		
6.1	Demonstration of the behaviour	Provide an observable sample of the performance of the behaviour, directly in person or indirectly e.g. via film, pictures, for the person to aspire to or imitate	Demonstrate breastfeeding in film clip or via the use of aids (e.g. breastfeeding doll). Pictures of 'good' positioning and attachment to be shared with women. Encourage attendance at breastfeeding group to observe other mothers breastfeeding
8	Repetition and substitution		
8.1	Behavioural practice/rehearsal	Prompt practice or rehearsal of the performance of the behaviour one or more times in a context or at a time when the performance may not be necessary in order to increase habit or skill.	Show and ask mothers to practice behaviours (i.e. hand expressing or breastfeeding) using aids such as a breastfeeding doll or knitted breast.

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 47

12.	Antecedents								
12.2	Restructuring the social environment	Change, or advise to change the social environment in order to facilitate performance of the wanted behaviour	Encourage the mother to attend social gatherings where other mothers are breastfeeding.						
13.	Identity								
13.1	ldentification of self as role model	Inform that one's own behaviour may be an example to others	Inform the mother that if they breastfeed they will be a role model within their community and to their child who will be influenced by their feeding choice						
15.	Self-belief								
15.1	Verbal persuasion about capability	Tell the person that they can successfully perform the wanted behaviour, arguing against self- doubts and asserting that they can and will succeed	Tell the mother that they can successfully breastfeed despite initial difficulties. Encourage women to talk to friends/family members as well other mothers at breastfeeding groups to hear stories of how others have managed to breastfeed successfully.						
15.2	Mental rehearsal of successful performance	Advise to practice imagining performing the behaviour successfully in relevant contexts.	Ask and encourage mothers to imagine breastfeeding in public locations and plan how this can be undertaken discretely.						

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 48

ABA project timetable

Month of study					1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct
Appoint research staff																												
NHS REC/governance approval																												
Assets mapping																												
Co-production of text messages																												
Development of training																												
Training ABA feeding team																												
Peer supporters practice intervention																												
Feasibility trial recruitment																												
Intervention delivery																												
Follow-up at 3 days																												
Follow-up at 8 weeks																												
Follow-up at 6 months																												
Qualitative interviews																												
Qualitative analysis																												
Statistical analysis																												
Management meetings																												
PPI meetings																												
Write-up																												

Trial Name: ABA Study		
Protocol version no: 2.0	Version Date: 4 th April 2017	Page 49